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Institute, the headquarters of which are in Berlin, and a great part of the
sphere of its activity in Germany. In fact that very festival contributed
not a little to the notion still widely spread, that the work of the Institute
is confined to Rome. The German Institute seemed absorbed in the Roman,
with which so many travellers, in their winter journeys in Italy, made a
more or less hasty acquaintance, of which probably in many cases they first
heard at Rome. Thus it is easy to understand how the interest of the
public, so far as it concerns itself with such a scientific institution, is
accustomed to turn exclusively to the Roman Institute and its occasional
utterances,

I will endeavour in the following pages to show that this way of re-
garding the matter is too narrow, and does not correspond to the facts as
regards the Institute. Scholars in general may be glad to acquire a more
correet view of the Institute as a whole. In order to make clear in what
ways the limits of its activity have been graduwally widened, it seems necessary
first to give a slight sketch of the history of the Institute.!

L.

The * Instituto di Corrispondenza Archeologica’ was founded in the year
1820 as a private undertaking. The real founder and the soul of the whole
was Eduard Gerhard, supported principally by Bunsen and Panofka. The
most important archaeological scholars in Germany and Italy shared earnestly
in the work. There were joined with them a few colleagues from England,
Denmark, and Greece ; outside Germany and Italy an important contingent
was {urnished only by Paris, where archaeological studies flourished, under the
presidency of the noble Duc de Luynes, then often called “le dernier gentil-
homme de la France, who had already given important aid in the preliminary
discussions in regard to the foundation of such an international scientific union.
This is not the place to detail the friction and disagreements which took place
during many years between the French group, led by the Duc de Luynes, and
the Germans and Italians, under Gerhard and Bunsen, both parties aiming at
taking the leading part in the Institute. At last in 1836 a compromise was
made, by which Rome wag recognized as centre of the Institute, but greater
independence was allowed to the French section, the place of publication
alternating between Rome and Paris. So matters remained until the
revolution of February., The political storms to which France was exposed
in 1848 quenched there for the moment all scientific interests, The Duc de
Luynes, a strong supporter of the white banner, alike from family tradition
and from personal conviction, gave up all hope of the permanence of the
Institute,and on the 12th of May 1848 the French section announced, throngh
its secretary M. De Witte, that with the completion of the last year's volume

! Comp. the author's Geschichte des deulschen 1570, (Also in Italian : Storia dell’ Instituto,
arehdvlogischon Instituls, 1820—1879, DBerlin,  ete., Rome, 1879.)
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to its strictly scientific work it became a sort of academy for training young
scholars, particularly from Germany and other northern lands. Rising Italian
students also took an eager part in the Institute, which in their opinion was
balf Ttalian, French archaeologists rarely stayed at Rome or assisted person-
ally in the work of the Institute which, however, some of them supported by
correspondence or contributions; generally they gravitated more and more
to the French School of Athens established in 1846, The clearer that the
influence of the Institute on German learning grew, especially in supplying
the chairs of archaeology in the German Ul‘ll\fe‘l‘SltlL‘* by this time universal,
the more incumbent it became on the State to give more liberal assistance.
This did not, it is true, strike the smaller German states, but it was one
of the beneficial actions of the Prince Regent of Prussia to carry out his
brother's intention in increasing the grant to the Institute to £875
By that sum, besides the salaries of the secretaries, provision was
made for scientific publications, a fixed revenue secured to the library,
which had hitherto been almost dependent on charitable contributions, and
two travelling scholarships founded for young archaeologists. In a truly
liberal spirit it was provided that these students need not be born Prussinns
so long as they had taken a doctor’s degree or passed examinations in Prussia ;
and in fact most of the secretaries had come from other German states.
As a necessary consequence the relations of the Institute to the Direction
which sat in Berlin under Gerhard’s presidency underwent a change. That
Direction ceased to be merely a board of reference for the secretaries, partly
scientific and partly administrative, and became, in virtue of the larger grant
and the award of scholarships, a Direction responsible to the State. The
secretaries were not yet, it is true, functionaries of the State, but their relation
to the Central Direction became closer and more definite,

This was but the first step in the passage of the * Instituto prussiano’
into a public institution of the Prussian State. A complete assumption of
this relation was brought about by the Central Direction in conjunction
with the Secretaries at Rome in 1867, with a view to certain great ad-
vantages, such as complete protection of the Institute established in a
foreign country from all political aggressions, close relations with the Berlin
Academy, and the establishment of the secretaries as state officers with
a claim to pension. On July 18, 1870, King William accepted the ar-
rangement, and on March 2, 1871, he signed as Emperor at Versailles the
new statute. The change not unnaturally passed without public notice
in 8o momentous a time. More attention was aroused when in 1874, on
the motion of the German Reichstag, the Institute, which had always been
pan-Germanic in character, ceased to be connected with the Prussian State,
and became attached to the German Empire. The Central Direction in
Berlin was strengthened by the addition of four archaeologists resident in
other German universities ; four travelling scholarships for classical archae-
ology and a fifth for students of Christian archaeology, each of £150 per
annum, were constituted in the place of the two which existed, and thrown
open to all German subjects; a considerable increase in the grant, now

H.S.—VOL. X. 0
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was not accompanied by a folio publication of Monuwmenti inediti, and thus there
was 10 connection between the text and the illustrations of such monuments
as were too large to be reproduced in the plates. Monthly reports were also
dispensed with. Although in the case of contributions from members of
other nations, foreign languages were not excluded, yet even with them the
use of German greatly preponderated, since among Greek scholars, in conse-
quence of their studies abroad, the knowledge of German has become so
general, that the necessary association with the natives of the country has
not been, as formerly in Italy, hindered by linguistic difficulties,

Although the establishment of the Athenian branch implied a remark-
able extension of the original Institute—doubled in fact its functions and its
sphere of activity—yet the ends and the means of the new Imperial Institute
were not confined to these two foreign localities, A third centre for
investigations had sprung up in Germany itself. As early as the year 1843,
Gerhard had started in Berlin the Avchaeologische Zeitunyg as a lesser German
organ of his favourite foundation, the Roman Institute. When the Central
Direction took this journal in hand, the bond was tightened which already
bound the journal to the Institute. Beside the various publications in foreign
tongues issued from Rome and the Athenian Mittheilungen, the Zeitung
represented primarily German archaeological work. But for this last, tasks
were preparing of an entirely different character.

The annual budget of the Central Direction placed at its disposal a
certain sum *for special scientific undertakings originating in the Institute.
Of all the functions which archaeological science is in our days called to fulfil
none is more pressing than the collection and publication of all existing or
traceable monuments. Latterly, active progress has been made in simple
tabulation by means of accurate catalogues, although many very important
collections are still without a good list of their contents. But this process is
no more satisfactory than catalogues of manuscripts of ancient authors.
Works of art cannot be studied without reproductions—descriptions cannot
enable us to see things., But reproductions only exist to a very insufficient
extent.  Archaeologists have only too long contented themselves with
publishing and explaining the particular monuments that they came across
more or less by hap-hazard, and they have often seemed quite unconscious
that work on such fragmentary material can lead to no sure results. Here
and there indeed one of the older Italians has attempted to collect together
the monuments of one kind—as Pietro Sante Bartoli has done for the terra-
cotta lamps, Gori for the so-called diptychs with their ivory reliefs, Ficoroni
for the leaden seals—but these were, both in the kind of the monuments and
in the execution of the design, efforts of modest scope., One man clearly
perceived what was wanted—George Zoega, the founder of sound method in
archaeology,—and he personally undertook the collection of Roman marble-
reliefs ; but the publication of these was, unfortunately, soon interrupted by
his death. His example was followed by Eduard Gerhard, who publicly
declared : ¢ No class of ancient works of art has as yet been treated in a clear
and comprehensive way, so as to take account of the whole supply that has

02
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sarcophagi, which task was committed to Jahn's pupil Friedrich Matz. The
premature death of this young and excellent investigator (1874) for a time
deprived the enterprise of its leader, until Carl Robert entered on the great
undertaking.  He carried it on so zealously, that at present the first part of
the collection divided into five volumes is shortly to be published. And
finally Richard Kekulé had in 1873 proposed to the Central Direction the
collection of the so-called terra-cottas, 7.e of the statuettes and reliefs of baked
clay, and had thus undertaken a difficult and far-reaching work which had
hitherto been undeservedly neglected. Assisted by his pupil Hermann von
Rohden, Kekulé accomplished his task as quickly as the material at his
disposal would allow. The first volume, comprising the terra-cottas of
Pompeii, compiled by Rohden, appeared in 1880 ; four years later followed
Kekulé’s compilation of Sicilian terra-cottas.! Two further volumes, comprising
the Roman bas-reliefs best known from the Campana collection in the Louvre
and the Tanagraean terra-cottas, are in course of preparation.

But however long the list of the publications of * series” now in process,
we see that after all but a modest beginning has been made when we con-
sider the whole of the task yet to be accomplished. For to mention but a few
of the most prominent classes of monuments, we are still wanting in the
statues, the pictures, the vase-paintings, the bronzes, the gems,—to say
nothing of the architectural works. Only for the first-named eclass, the
statues,—among the most important of all,—are the preparatory operations
already begun. There are two points of great importance in determining
the choice of the series to be collected. 1In the first place it is necessary to
find the right man for the particular task, which is not always an easy matter.
The undertakings that have hitherto been started rest entirely on the personal
initiative of the editors, who have for the most part had at their command
the results of some preparatory work, their own or that of others, In
such a case it was necessary to seize the opportunity, without considering
whether this or that class of monuments was of the greatest importance. So
that this point has been most essential in determining the selection of
subjects. Besides this consideration, we have that of the funds to be applied
to the work. The sum granted to the Institute for such purposes scarcely
suffices to keep on foot the undertakings already started, indeed besides other
causes, of which we shall speak directly, the paucity of means has had no
small share in retarding the publications. So that it is no wonder if from
time to time other series, of narrower compass, which might readily have
found some one to take them up, have had to be postponed, and if the
preparatory work for the series next contemplated, that of the statues,
progresses but slowly.

It is thus evident that the Imstitute, working from its centre in
Berlin, and sustained by the effective co-operation of the branches at Rome
and Athens, has made cousiderable efforts towards supplying archaeological

1 R. Kekulé, Die Antiken Terracotten. 1. H.  Stuttgart, 1880. 11 R, Kekulé, Dic Terracot-
von Rohden, e Terracollen von Pompeji. ten von Sicilien. Berlin u. Stuttgart, 1884,
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most particularly needed in the case of those sarcophagi which are only
known from deseriptions, often only from brief mentions. And again, it is
only in this way that the distinction can safely be made between what merits
or requires reproduction by engraving, and what only needs an exact
deseription ; since it would evidently be needless waste to have a drawing
made of every single repetition of exactly the same composition.

These preparatory efforts on the part of the intending editor must be
followed by those of the dranghtsman. And it is no light task to discover
an artist who has skill in work of this particular kind and is willing to devote
himself to it entirely. As soon as he is found, he must next be made acquainted
with the special character of the work in hand and must acquire practice in
it. Mechanical reproductions, by means of photography, are generally im-
possible owing to the position of the monuments and the light in which they
stand. We must have recourse then to drawing by hand, which by reason of
the multitude of figures, and the dimensions of the compositions, often, too,
the inconvenient position of the objects, occupies a great deal of time. And
then the draughtsman ought also to be somewhat of a diplomatist. He must
obtain access to the original, must overcome the innumerable, always novel
difficulties which the fancies of the owners or the avarice of the keepers put
in his way, must on oceasions provide himself with a scaffold and see to what
is necessary in other ways. In Rome, or generally in the larger museums, he
is supported in his efforts by the officials of the Institute or the directors of
the collections, but in the smaller, out-of-the-way places, he must rely on his
own energy, tact, and powers of persuasion. But at last all these difficulties
are overcome, and the bitter cold of winter in the musenms and the glowing
heat of smmnmer in the streets and courts have been suceessfully withstood,—
the drawings are ready. Now begins the revision, for even the most practised
dranghtsman, not being a specialist in archaeology, will not be able to com-
prehend and reproduce everything correctly. Again, he will hardly in every
case have a quite sonnd judgment as to the distinction between the antique
parts and the modern additions or alterations. The head of the undertaking
must therefore set out on his travels again, and if possible in company with
the dranghtsman, must set about a comparison of the drawings with the
originals, and order what alterations may be necessary. Not till then does
the material lie to hand in a form fit for use.

This work, which has to do with several thousands of many-figured
reliefs, has meantime occupied a period of many years and necessarily
consumed large sums of money. As a matter of fact, the work preparatory
to the Corpus Sarcophagorum has cost about £5,000. Now begins the pub-
lication. A publisher has to be found and terms arranged with him—no
casy matter in a work involving so much engraving. Besides this, the editor
of the collection must determine the arrangement of the whole work, the
suitable distribution of the separate subjects on the plates, the mode of re-
production—by copper-plate, lithography, mechanical process, or one of the
heliotype processes—and to superintend the carrying out of the whole, He
must at the same time be always on the watch to see whether in the mean-
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work of making extracts of the whole literature in manuseript or print, had
been undertaken and accomplished as a whole. So that we must regard as
a necessity to the completion of the entire undertaking of the publication
of series, a repertory, comprehensive and as complete as possible, of archaeo-
logical literatnre—not, of course, to be printed as a work in itself, but as a
preparatory help to archacological work. This notwithstanding it is possible
that the order of the monuments to be extracted may be determined with
reference to such undertakings as might be nearest at hand, This task also
has already been undertaken by the Institute with a special view to the
future series of statues, and has only been temporarily interrupted through
want of the necessary funds.

But we have not even yet come to an end of the efforts of the Institute
for the progress of archaeology. We must add a considerable number of
special publications and of grants towards the publication of works, which,
though useful, were not likely to be a commercial success. Not, of course,
that such assistance was given whenever asked for, even in the case of very
desirable publications. Such a course would have gone beyond the means and
the purposes of the Institute. Only such works could be taken up which
had, so to speak, the character of inventories or of sources of information,
Among these are, in the first place, catalogues of antiques, such as that by
Duetschke, in five volumes, of the collections of Upper Italy, including those
of Florence!; that by Matz and von Duhn of the scattered monuments of
Rome *; and that by Schreiber of the collection in the Villa Ludovisi.® Next
to these comes Schoene’s index of the valuable Bocechi collection of vases
in Adria, of which the Institute undertook the publication, with copious
illustration by plates* The Jubilee of the year 1879 was the occasion of
De Rossi’'s magnificent work on the older plans and views of the city of
Rome, which opened up an almost unknown field of research.” It was also
from the funds of the Institute that means were provided for Mau's History
of Decorative Wall-painting in Pompeii, with the accompanying valuable atlas
of splendidly executed coloured plates, a work of the greatest importance
for the knowledge of ancient decoration.” Schliemann’s Mycene finds led
to the two great publications of Furtwiingler and Loschcke on the so-called
Mycene vases, which make a considerable contribution towards the knowledge
of one of the oldest phases of art and civilization on Greek soil” An excava-
tion specially undertaken by the Institute in the neighbourhood of Acharnae
brought to light a bee-hive vaunlt like those of Mycene, the complete contents

V1, Duetschke, Antike Bildwerke in Oberita-
tien. 1.-V. Leipzig, 1874-1882.

2 T, Matz and F. von Duhn, Antilke Bild-
werke in Rom. L-111. Leipzig, 1881-1882,

3 Th, Schreiber, Die antiken Bildwerke der
Fitle Ludovisi in Rom. Leipzig, 1880,

4 R. Schoene, Le antichita del Musco Bocehi
di Adriz, Rome, 1878,

3 (1. B. de Rossi, Piante {eonografiche e pro-

spettiche di Roma aleriorial secolo X VI, Rome,
1879,

¢ A, Mau, Feschichte der decorativen Weand-
waleret in Pompeyi.  Berlin, 1882,

7 A. Furtwingler and G. Loescheke, Myke-
wische Thongefaesse. Berlin, 1879,  Mylenische
Vasen, wvorhellenische  Thongafuesse aus demn
Geliels des Miltelmeeres, Berlin, 1886.
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and generally supported by public funds, or by learned bodies, except that it
results necessarily from the nature of art, which must appeal to the eye,
and to the conditions of the editing of works of art, that the publication
of the great archaeological collections requires much larger sums than
do the drawing up and the publication of mere written documents, And
s0 in the choice of the means of reproduction no luxury is admitted; in
fact economy is carried to such lengths that—hitherto, at least—those who
are working on the series or on the special enterprises, receive no other
reward for their most fatiguing labours than that which consists in the
consciousness of having furthered the cause of science. There is need in
truth of the self-denying, ideal tone of mind, which is not yet out of vogue
among the representatives of science in Germany, to overcome faint-hearted-
ness in work. But there is also need of a union of all forces, of a close
organization, to prevent the strength of individuals from being spent un-
profitably, and to make all efforts help towards the attainment of the great
objects in view.

It has already been remarked that for these objects the most important
means have been provided in the two institutions abroad, the Roman and the
Athenian Institutes. For either of these Institutes, its sphere of action has
been determined by its geographical position. Athens must be the centre of
exploration for those lands of the East where Greek influences have pre-
ponderated, not merely for European Greece with its islands and the
neighbouring regions, but also for Asin Minor, which has of late been the
field of rival explorations from all nations, as far as Cyprus and the coasts of
ancient Phoenicia. The Roman branch institution naturally has Ttaly for its
primary field of research, without losing sight of the further western lands of
the old Roman Empire. Besides keeping a watchful eye on all fresh dis-
coveries, besides their own travels of research and even their own excavations
on a small scale, the braneh institutions find leisure for prosecuting vigorously
those great tasks which belong to the Institute as a whole. The directors
of the series as well as the artists employed, naturally have recourse to the
secretaries in Rome or Athens, who smooth their paths and geverally
undertake their canse. But besides the secretaries, they have at their
disposal the whole ranks of young scholars, who for about forty years have, in
the phrase of the Capitol, gone by the name of ragaszi. Of these the
main body consists of those whu hold the bursaries of the Institute, four
being appointed every year, and they are joined by other young scholars,
Germans and foreigners—of late especially Austrians. These young men,
under the direction of the secretaries, go through courses of study, with
practical work, in archaeology, epigraphy, and topography, which, considering
the riches of material heaped up and still accumulating from all sides in the
museums, afford an incomparable practical completion to their previous
academic studies. Moreover they make their entrance, under the guidance of
the secretaries, into the organism we have already described of archaeological
work as a whole, and it is gratifying to see how zealously and how skilfully
the young men, in addition to their own studies, undertake now the
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The difficulties connected with the folio plates of the Monwmenti Inediti
were of another kind. When that publication was begun, two methods of
engraving only ‘were in use for such works, lithograph and copperplate. The
former process had been only occasionally used by the Institute, particularly
for the plates published in Paris, and again, more recently, for the reproduction
in colours of vase- and wall-paintings. Copperplate engraving, on the other
hand, was used by skilled artists both in Paris and Rome, and so was
principally employed for the plates of the Institute. During a long time,
up to about 1870, they were confided mainly to Bartolommeo Bartoceini, whose
engravings also in other artistic publications have won celebrity. But gradu-
ally this branch of art decayed at Rome, and now it is cultivated with far
more success elsewhere. Thus in the case of difficult engravings foreign
engravers had to be employed. Also in regard to all of the modern photo-
graphic processes of reproduction the level of technical excellence at Rome
is rather low; and the silver-printing which is practised there with zeal and
success is out of the question when a large edition is required. In the case
of chromo-lithography too, only easy subjects are reproduced with tolerable
success, The result of these unfortunate conditions, for which the Institute
was in no way responsible, was that difficult plates had frequently to be
executed out of Italy. And when this was the case the original drawings
had to be sent to Berlin, or Leipzig, or Munich, and the stock of the valuable
plates had to be sent back to Rome; whence once more at the end of the
year they made their way back to Germany with the complete edition, It
was surely simpler and more practical, seeing that this would probably be
necessary oftener and oftener in coming years, simply to remove the whole
publishing of the Monwmenti from Rome.

For such removal there was another and a still stronger reason. The
Monumenti were the only folio publication at the disposal of the Institute.
In the hands of the secretaries at Rome they were naturally mainly used
for the reproduction of Italian monuments, among which a prominent place
was taken by the monuments of Etruria, and lately by those of early Italian
civilization, besides vases, statues of the kind common in Roman museums,
sarcophagi, and wall-paintings. True Greek art was thrust too much into
the background, and commonly found a place only on suggestion from abroad.
Such a selection of material fulfilled ill the general purposes of the Institute.
It naturally seemed unfair that the Athenian Institute, situated at the very
source of the purest art and in the midst of continual important discoveries
should not have so large a share in that great publication as had Rome. A’
share in it was also claimed by the Berlin Direction; German museums
and many foreign galleries, such as the British Museum with its many
unpublished treasures, could be more easily reached from Berlin.

Finally there were inconveniences in connection with the Annali, One
of the chief purposes of this publication was, as has been shown, to provide
an accompanying text to the plates of the Mouumenti: the two were closely
connected. The consequence was that sometimes a very important monu-
ment difficult of comment was kept back for years because an able

-
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to a more speedy decision. Inthe New Year’s number of the Kélnische Zeitung
for 1885, Herr Ihne, Professor of English Literature at the University of
Heidelberg, and author of several works on Roman history, who had lived
some winter months at Rome, complained of the exclusion of the German
language from the writings and discussions of the Roman Institute. The
Imperial Chancellor (the Institute as a foundation depending on the
Empire, and on account of its branch academies in foreign parts, comes
under the Foreign Office) demanded from the Central Direction a statement
on the subject, and subsequently ordered them to give the German language
its proper privileges in the Roman Institute. The Monuwmenti and the
Annali were to be turned into a German periodical, the use of Latin being
permitted ; in the Bullettino, on the other hand, Italian was to be allowed,
and in exceptional cases also French, In the oral discussions of the meetings
German and also Italian were to be used—other languages only when the
speakers were unfamiliar with either of these tongues. By this means,
a definite line was laid down for the further resolutions of the Central
Direction. In the most essential points, these new orders agreed with the
intended changes already deseribed, and although at first the regulation
seemed to involve diffieulties in some points of its execution, after a personal
conference of the Central Direction with the Roman secretaries, a satisfactory
understanding was reached as to the method of carrying out the future
rules,

The affairs of the Monumenti lent themselves the most easily to re-
arrangement.  When this was to be made the chief periodical of the Institute
as a whole, the removal from Rome to the residence of the Central Direction,
Berlin,—also desirable on technical grounds—and the transformation of the
Monuwments antichi inediti into Antike Bildwerke followed as a matter of
course. The epithet inediti might be omitted, because an occasional more
exact republication of monuments of which hitherto only inadequate
engravings had appeared, was not to be entirely excluded. Each of the
three centres of the Institute, Berlin, Rome, and Athens, obtained free
disposal of a third of the twelve annual plates, although this rule is not to
be enforced with pedantic precision. If one of the three seats of Direction
happens to be particularly rich in materials, so that it can make public
any specially important monuments, it is an understood thing that precedence
should be given to its publications, and on the other hand the editorial staff
has to take means for preventing undue preference from being given to any
particular kind of monuments, and to provide for a fair proportion among the
works of architecture, of sculpture, and of painting, The three numbers that
Liave appeared since the change afford a justification of it which will be easily
appreciated. They are distinguished from the former Roman Monumenti
both by the variety of important monuments and by the great superiority in
the processes of reproduction, and if, especially in the latter respect, some-
thing remains to be desired (for in this respect Berlin is less advanced
than, e.g. Vienna), the progress made is nevertheless clear to every unpre-
judiced mind. We would observe in particular that the investigation of
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theatres and their arrangements—have been promised in the forthcoming
supplements, Finally, from the present year onwards, the annual, appearing
in quarterly numbers, contains a regular supplement corresponding to the
Archaeologische Anzeiger formerly edited by Gerhard. For as it is desired, as
far as possible, to keep the annual in the regions of purely scientific discussion,
and sceing that the periodicals of the Roman and of the Athenian Institute
—of which we shall speak directly—are occupied principally within their
own geographical limits, it is advisable to have a paper of freer scope for
communications on points of bibliography and on points touching museums,
for notices of the proceedings of the Berlin Archaeological Society (a society
akin, as it were, to the Institute) and of other scientific societies, for news of
excavations, for short scientific notices, for obituary records, and so forth.
This completion of the annual by the addition of a paper of this kind will
certainly meet the wishes of many fellow-workers, especially of such as reside
in the provinces, and owing to their distance from the centres of the Institute
are without opportunity of hearing the news that ever flows thither from
all parts, Thus, for example, since a knowledge of the proceedings of the
above-mentioned Berlin Society, very important in many ways, has for years
been unattainable by means of German archaeological periodicals, people had
to gather their information from political, literary, and other newspapers and
weekly papers. If possible, this will not be the case in future,

Besides these two German publications, which especially represent the
Institute as a whole, the two foreign Institutes naturally require each its
special organ. In Athens, the Mittheilungen appearing in quarterly numbers,
illustrated by a number of smaller plates, has for the most part kept its
original arrangement, Under Ulrich Koehler's editorship, this periodical has
by the thoroughness of its discussions and its excellent scientific tone
obtained a place of honour among its contemporaries. The only wish to be
expressed —one justified by the title of communications—is that the periodical
could be directed more along the lines taken by the publication—also
Athenian—of the French School. However, in this respect a marked
improvement has of late been visible, which is to be attributed partly to the
conscious purpose of the editors, partly to the increased interest in travels
and discoveries taken by members of the Institute, especially by the holders
of studentships and their companions, and partly in the character and bent
of studies of one of the secretaries, Wilhelm Dérpfeld, who had belonged
to the Athenian Institute for some years, and became second secretary in
1886, and soon after first secretary, belongs to that band of architects who
have received a thorough training in the exact investigation of ancient
buildings, by means of the German excavations at Olympia and the
Prussian at Pergamum, and at the same time are capable of making a com-
plete co-ordination of their investigations with those of archaeologists who
have undergone a different training. In securing Dorpfeld for the Athenian
Institute, the study of architecture—hitherto almost entirely neglected—
has won a permanent place as a branch of the work of the Institute,
Both the Awntike Bildwerke and the Athenian Mittheilungen, have already
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